1940

South East Furniture Company v. The Industrial Commission of Utah operating as the Utah Labor Relations Board : Brief of Plaintiff

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This proceeding is brought by the plaintiff, under Chapter 55, Section 11(f), Laws of Utah, 1937, for the purpose of reviewing a decision and order of the Industrial Commission of Utah, operating as the Utah Labor Relations Board, in the matter of certification of employes of the South East Furniture Company, for the purpose of collective bargaining, which decision and order, made and entered by the said Board on the 16th

day of August, 1940, certified that United Industrial Local Union No. 1068 was authorized and appointed by a majority of the employees engaged and employed in the department theretofore determined by the said Board as the appropriate unit for collective bargaining purposes with the South East Furniture Comany, the plaintiff herein, and ordered and directed the plaintiff, without further delay, to enter into negotiations for the purpose of collective bargaining with the said local union, with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment.

On or about July 26, 1940, the said union notified the plaintiff that it represented a majority of a certain group of employees of the plaintiff, and demanded to bargain collectively with the plaintiff in behalf of said employees. The plaintiff informed the union officials that it did not believe that the union had a majority of the said employees, and declined to bargain with said union until such majority was satisfactorily established. On July 27, 1940, a strike was called of certain of said employees. On July 30, 1940, an informal meeting was held with Commissioner William M. Knerr presiding as a conciliator, Mr. Knerr having been called in as such conciliator by the union officials, and the company representatives having voluntarily attended said meeting.

On July 31, 1940, after having allegedly checked the payroll of the said company against a list of names submitted by the union, and allegedly interviewing some of the alleged union applicants, and upon that basis, the said defendant, as the Utah Labor Relations Board,

certified the United Industrial Local Union as the appropriate unit for the purpose of collective bargaining for the employes of the plaintiff company employed in the shipping, servicing, delivery, and general warehouse work.

A subsequent meeting called by Commissioner Knerr, as conciliator, was attended voluntarily by the plaintiff and representatives of the union, on August 2, 1940, in an attempt to conciliate and mediate the controversy between the employer and the union and, if possible, as stated by the defendant Board, for the purpose of having the men return to work.

On August 1, 1940, the plaintiff filed a formal protest to the said certification of the defendant, and requested an appropriate hearing upon due notice, and further requested that the defendant Board arrange for a secret ballot of the said employes, for the purpose of determining the appropriate unit for collective bargaining purposes, and whether or not said union did, in fact, represent a majority of the employes in the appropriate bargaining unit. In the said protest, the plaintiff, in substance, alleged that the said union did not truly represent a majority of plaintiff's employes nor a majority of the employes in the classification mentioned; the plaintiff further alleged that the sales and office employes should be classified together with the employes mentioned, in one unit, for collective bargaining; the plaintiff further alleged that the certification of the defendant Board was based upon inadequate and incomplete investigation, which failed to establish that

the said union represented a majority of the said employees of plaintiff at the time the said protest was filed; plaintiff further objected that the said certification was not made after an appropriate hearing upon due notice, and that no secret ballot was taken as a basis for said certification, and that such investigation and certification was made while part of said employees were out on strike, and under conditions which made it difficult, if not impossible, to determine whether or not all the said employees were still in the employ of the plaintiff company.

On August 2, 1940, Commissioner Knerr transmitted to the plaintiff a communication from the union officials, in which the said union consented to the conducting of a secret ballot among the employees of the unit theretofore designated by the Board as the appropriate unit for collective bargaining. On August 3, 1940, the plaintiff replied in substance to Commissioner Knerr, consenting to a secret ballot, on condition that no charges of alleged unfair labor practices, up to the time of said ballot, be filed or considered, and that all the said company's employees, save for managers, assistant managers, and supervisors, be classified together and allowed to cast their ballot.

On August 7, 1940, the Industrial Commission adopted a resolution calling a hearing for August 9, 1940, at the hour of 10:00 o'clock A.M., for the purpose of determining the question of representation for collective bargaining in the said matter. A copy of the said resolution was served upon the plaintiff on August 7,

1940. At the outset of the said hearing, the plaintiff objected to the sufficiency of notice of the said hearing, and called the attention of the defendant Board to the fact that the notice of one day did not constitute due notice within the meaning of the statute. The Board, nevertheless, proceeded with the said hearing, as scheduled, and on the 16th day of August, 1940, rendered its decision and made its order, in substance and effect that the said union, as of July 26, 1940, had a majority of the employees in the department theretofore designated by the Board as the appropriate unit for collective bargaining purposes, and denying a secret ballot among the said employees, and ordering and directing the plaintiff, without further delay, to enter into negotiations for the purpose of collective bargaining with the said local union, with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment. The said decision and order was made and entered upon the affirmative vote of Commissioner Knerr and McShane, Commissioner Jugler voting in the negative. Commissioner Jugler further filed a dissenting opinion, in substance and effect holding that all the employees named on the list furnished by the plaintiff company should be classified together as one unit for collective bargaining purposes, and that a secret ballot should be conducted of the said employees, for the purpose of determining whether or not the said union had a majority.

QUESTIONS FOR REVIEW

As stated in plaintiff's petition for review, plaintiff contends that the said decision and order of the defen-

dant Board is without legal right and contrary to law, and the plaintiff is aggrieved thereby for the following reasons, to-wit:

1. That the notice of one day, given the plaintiff of the said hearing of August 9, 1940, did not constitute due or legal notice, and was not sufficient or reasonable notice to enable the plaintiff and others interested in the said hearing adequately and properly to prepare and present to the Board evidence pertaining to the issues to be presented at the said hearing.

2. That at the said hearing of August 9, 1940, the said Board entirely failed and refused to take any evidence or seek any information to enable it adequately to determine the proper representative of the employes of the plaintiff company for collective bargaining purposes.

3. That the said decision of said Board, designating and classifying certain employes as the proper unit for collective bargaining purposes, was made without adequate inquiry or consideration, was directly contrary to the expressed written wishes of 67 per cent of the employes of the plaintiff company, and was made solely for the reason and upon the ground that the said union requested such classification.

4. That the said decision of the said Board, denying a secret ballot of the employes of the said company, was contrary to law, and was made in the face of the express consent of the said union that such an election be had, on condition that it be confined to the

employees of the unit, as classified by the Board in its decision of August 16, 1940, as aforesaid, and was made in disregard of all the facts and circumstances and evidence presented to the Board to the effect that a fair and just determination as to the said representation could not be had in any other way than by a secret ballot.

5. That the said decision of the defendant Board was made solely on the basis of alleged applications for membership in the said union, previously presented to the said Board by the said union, and without any check or evidence as to whether the persons who allegedly signed the said applications in fact desired the said union to represent them at the time of the said decision of the Board on August 16, 1940.

6. That the said decision of the said Board was made while some of the said employees affected by the said decision were out on strike from the said company, and while informal charges of alleged unfair labor practices filed by the said union against this plaintiff were pending and undetermined, and upon which charges this plaintiff had not and has not yet been afforded any hearing whatever.

ARGUMENT

We shall discuss the questions for review in the same order presented in our petition for review.

I. THE NOTICE OF ONE DAY OF THE SAID HEARING OF THE BOARD OF AUGUST 9, 1940, DID NOT CONSTITUTE DUE

OR LEGAL NOTICE, AND WAS NOT SUFFICIENT OR REASONABLE NOTICE OF THE SAID HEARING.

Chapter 55, Section 10, Sub-section c, Laws of Utah, 1937, reads as follows:

“Questions affecting intrastate commerce: Whenever a question affecting intrastate commerce or the orderly operation of industry arises concerning the representation of employees, the board may investigate such controversy and certify to the parties, in writing, the name or names of the representatives that have been designated or selected. In any such investigation, the board shall provide for an appropriate hearing upon due notice, either in conjunction with a proceeding under section 11 or otherwise, and may take a secret ballot of employees, or utilize any other suitable method to ascertain such representatives.”

It will be noted that this section requires that the Board shall “provide for an appropriate hearing *upon due notice*, either in conjunction with a proceeding under section 11 or otherwise.” We grant that the hearing in question was not called in conjunction with a proceeding under section 11, which section has to do with hearings upon charges of unfair labor practices, but we respectfully call attention to the fact that, under the said section 11, the Legislature provided that not less than five days’ notice must be given of any hearing under the said section. There is no express number of days of notice provided in the statute for any hearing other than hearings under such section 11; the only requirement is that the said hearing be “upon due notice.” We call attention, however, to the fact that the

matter of determining the appropriate unit and the representative thereof for collective bargaining purposes, is at least as vital and important as the matter of adjudicating an alleged unfair labor practice, and that, in all fairness, at least as much notice should be given of such hearing as of one called for the purpose of adjudicating the charge of unfair labor practice. The hearing of August 9, 1940, was the first formal hearing called by the defendant Board for that purpose, and it appears that the action of the Board in providing only one day's notice for said hearing, was made in utter disregard of the vital importance of the question to be determined, and of the necessity for a complete and thorough investigation of the facts of the matter.

We have been able to find but one case bearing directly upon the question of the sufficiency of notice of hearing under the National Act. That is the case of *Lane Cotton Mills*, 1938, 9 *N.L.R.B.* 952. In that case, the company was served with an amended complaint and notice of hearing on October 16, 1937, after business hours, and hearing was held on October 18, 1937. The trial examiner denied the company's motion for postponement, and the Board over-ruled the examiner, stating as follows:

“Although the respondent participated in the hearing, because of lack of notice, full opportunity to be heard, to examine and cross-examine witnesses, and to produce evidence bearing upon the issues of the amended complaint, was not at the time afforded to it.”

It should be noted further that, under the National Act, at least five days' notice is provided for the hearing

of charges of alleged unfair labor practices, and that the N.L.R.B. formerly issued regulations requiring five days' notice but that the existing rules and regulations of N.L.R.B., Section 202.5, series 2, provides that the date fixed for the hearing shall not be less than ten days after the service of the complaint.

The action of the defendant Board, therefore, in affording only one day's notice in the instant case would seem to be entirely unwarranted.

II. AT THE SAID HEARING, THE BOARD FAILED TO TAKE ANY EVIDENCE OR TO SEEK ANY INFORMATION TO ENABLE IT ADEQUATELY TO DETERMINE THE PROPER REPRESENTATIVE OF THE EMPLOYEES FOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING PURPOSES.

A search of the transcript of the testimony taken at the said hearing reveals only testimony and evidence pertaining to the classification of the employees as a unit for collective bargaining purposes, with the exception of the petition signed by thirty out of a total of forty-five employees in the company, requesting the right to vote on any unionization of the employees, which petition is referred to on page 4 of the transcript, and which is also made a part of the record, and, with the further exception of Mr. Andrews' testimony on page 5 and on pages 78, 79, and 80, and Mr. Sorensen's testimony on page 41, as follows:

“Q. You have also expressed a desire, through your representative here to the Commission, that you feel that a secret ballot would be the only way of determining the desire of your em-

ployees as to the bargaining agency. Will you explain that?

“A. I sincerely feel that a secret ballot is necessary. I have been informed and believe that considerable pressure has been brought on our employees by some of the union representatives, and the employees of our store can express their free opinions only by a secret ballot, so that we won't feel they are being influenced.

“Q. You believe under the condition that has been reported to you that is the only proper way to determine this issue?

“A. Yes, I think that is the only proper way.”

It will be noted that the Board did not, at any time at the hearing or in conjunction therewith, make any inquiry or investigation whatsoever with respect to the question of whether or not the said union represented a majority of the employees, either in the unit designated by the Board as the proper bargaining unit, or in the company as a whole, either at the time of its decision or at any prior time. In other words, the Board went through the formalities of a hearing, because the law required such a hearing, but did not seek nor receive any evidence whatsoever on the vital question of whether or not the said union represented a majority of the employees; the Board evidently chose to disregard entirely the statement of Mr. Sorensen as set forth on page 41 of the transcript and the statements of Mr. Andrews, as aforesaid, and rested its decision as to the existence of a majority of the employees in the union upon the prior action of the Board, which certified the union as the collective bargaining agent, as of July 26, 1940, solely

on the basis of a comparison of union applications with a list of employes of the company. In this respect, it appears that the Board, at the said hearing, entirely closed its eyes and its mind to the vital question of the existence of a union majority, and merely rested upon its prior certification, which was made without hearing, without notice, and without adequate investigation.

III. THE DECISION OF THE BOARD DESIGNATING CERTAIN EMPLOYES AS THE PROPER UNIT FOR COLLECTIVE BARGAINING PURPOSES, WAS MADE WITHOUT ADEQUATE INQUIRY OR CONSIDERATION, AND WAS DIRECTLY CONTRARY TO THE EXPRESS WRITTEN WISHES OF 67 PER CENT OF THE EMPLOYES.

At the said hearing, the Board was faced with two requests: first, a request from the local union that the employes in the shipping, servicing, delivery, and general warehouse work of the company be designated as the proper unit for collective bargaining purposes; and, second, a request voluntarily submitted and filed by the employes themselves, acting through one of their number, Mr. Thos. K. Andrews, signed by thirty out of forty-five employes in the entire company, asking that all the said employes have a right to vote on any unionization of the employes of the company. The Board saw fit after the said hearing, to deny and disregard the request of the said thirty employes, and to grant the request of the union, and classified the employes in accordance with the union's request and contrary to the wishes of the said thirty employes, many of whom were among those who had allegedly signed union applica-

tions. It would appear that such action of the Board, in choosing to follow implicitly the demands of the union in preference to the express written request of the employes themselves, does violence to the very spirit and essence of the Utah Labor Relations Act, in that it exalts the union above the employes, and curbs the "full freedom of association, self-organization, and designation of representatives of their (the employes) own choosing," as set forth in the said law, and subordinates the will of the employes to that of the union.

While it is admitted that the plaintiff, through Mr. H. A. Sorensen, expressed its belief that it would be to the best interest of the employes, and in the interest of harmony in the company that all the employes be classified in one unit, and that dissention would ensue if such classification were not made (Tr. 37), the employer made such observation in sincerity and with the firm conviction that the action recommended by the employer would bring about harmony and good will in his establishment. The request for classification of all the employes in one unit sprang voluntarily from the employes themselves; and their representative, Mr. Andrews, was interrogated severely and at length by Commissioner Knerr, for the purpose of eliciting some evidence of influence or coercion on the part of the employer, in the instigation of the said request, but the said interrogation of the said Mr. Andrews brought out emphatically the fact that the said request was wholly voluntary on the part of the said thirty employes (Tr. 78-81).

While admitting the soundness generally of the policy of protecting employes against coercive influences on the part of the employer, and the consequent possible need for the protective measures afforded by law in behalf of unions, as against employers, we fail to see where, by all rules of reason and justice, there is any justification for a labor board to close its eyes completely to the expressed wishes of 67 per cent of the employes of a company, and to follow blindly the demands of a union, in conflict with the said employes' request, particularly where the employer is not involved in the said controversy beyond expressing its wish and desire that the request of the employes be followed, in the interest of harmony and peace.

In connection with the classification ordered by the Board we respectfully call attention to the fact that the union representative, in the first instance, claimed that "nowhere throughout the United States has the Congress for Industrial Organization ever admitted to its membership or claimed jurisdiction over the employes herein exempted." (From letter of August 5, 1940, to Utah Labor Relations Board, signed Frank Bonacci). At the hearing, Mr. Bonacci stated, in substance, that he did not claim jurisdiction over the employes exempted as aforesaid (Tr. 9), but stated that in several small stores and restaurants, cashiers are sometime taken into the union (Tr. 13). Mr. Bonacci further stated, in substance, that he did not take in the employes excepted, because he did not want them in the union (Tr. 17), and stated further that there is nothing to prevent the C.I.O. from organizing said employes (Tr. 21).

Mr. Varro C. Jones, organizer for C.I.O., called to testify by Commissioner Knerr, testified in substance that, if the thirty men in question, employees of the South East Furniture Company, had made application for one charter for their group, such charter would have been granted by the C.I.O. (Tr. 65-66), and that the men themselves determine the classification the group shall be in (Tr. 64).

Furthermore, the documents submitted by the plaintiff company at the said hearing (marked Exhibits A, B, C, D, E, F, G, and H), we believe, constitute evidence that the C.I.O. does frequently include in one unit employees in shipping, servicing, delivery, warehouse, clerical, and sales departments of a company. Despite the evidence submitted to that effect, the Board erroneously, we think, chose to follow the demands of the union and to classify the bargaining unit in accordance with such demands.

The Board's power to define the appropriate unit for purposes of collective bargaining is set forth in Subsection b of Section 10, Chapter 55, Laws of Utah, 1937, as follows:

“Appropriate unit.

The board shall decide in each case whether, in order to insure to employees the full benefit of their right to self-organization and to collective bargaining, and otherwise to effectuate the policies of this act, the unit appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining shall be the employer unit, craft unit, plant unit, or subdivision thereof.”

The above quoted sub-section was copied word for word from Sub-section b of Section 9 of the National Labor Relations Act. Therefore, it would seem that the decisions of the National Labor Relations Board pertaining to this subsection, should be a safe guide for this court to follow.

We quote from the Third Annual Report, N.L.R.B., 1938 and Fourth Annual Report N.L.R.B., 1939, page 83, as follows:

“Self-organization among employees is generally grounded in a community of interest in their occupations, and more particularly in their qualifications, experience, duties, wages, hours, and other working conditions. This community of interest may lead to organization along craft lines, along industrial lines, or in any of a number of other forms representing adaptations to special circumstances. The complexity of modern industry, transportation, and communication, and the numerous and diverse forms which self-organization among employees can take and has taken, preclude the application of rigid rules to the determination of the unit appropriate for the purposes of collective bargaining.

“In attempting to ascertain the groups among which there is that mutual interest in the objects of collective bargaining which must exist in an appropriate unit, the Board takes into consideration the facts and circumstances existing in each case. The nature of the work done by the employees involved, their training and the extent of their responsibilities, and the organization of the employer's business are all entitled to weight. In evaluating these factors, the Board must also consider the history of collective bargaining, whether successful or otherwise, among the employees involved as well as among other employees in the same industry or in similar industries.

Finally the Board must evaluate various other factors which tend to show the presence or absence of a mutual interest in collective bargaining between various groups of employees.

“The precise weight to be given to any of the relevant factors cannot be mathematically stated. Generally several considerations enter into each decision.” (Third Annual Report, NLRB, 1938 (page 157)).

“The Board must determine frequently whether the unit or units shall be industrial, including practically all the employees in the plant, semi-industrial, including a majority of the employees, multicraft, including several groups of skilled workers, craft, including one group of skilled workers, or some other unit, including only part of the employees.” (Fourth Annual Report, NLRB, 1939 (page 83)).

As to centralization of management, an employee unit was held appropriate because of a central employment office, interchange of employees, one superintendent, and a central handling of grievance problems.

Aluminum Co. of America, (1938) 6 NLRB 444.

Similarly, the matter of central management resulted in a designation of one unit in the following cases:

United Shipyards, Inc., (1938) 5 NLRB 742

Standard Oil Company of Calif., (1938) 5 NLRB
750

Waggoner Refining Co., Inc., (1938) 6 NLRB 731

Stackpole Carbon Co., (1938) 6 NLRB 171

Paraga Rubber Co., (1938) 6 NLRB 23

The American Brass Co., (1938) 6 NLRB 723

American Hardware Corp., (1937) 4 NLRB 412

Kling Factories, (1938) 8 *NLRB* 1228

The Sorg Paper Co., (1938) 8 *NLRB* 657

Columbia Broadcasting System, Inc., (1938) 8
NLRB 508

As to community of interest, we quote from the Third Annual Report of N.L.R.B., 1938, page 174, as follows:

“Under the terms of the Act, the Board, in determining the appropriate unit, attempts to insure to employees the full benefit of the right to self-organization and to collective bargaining. The chief object of the Board, therefore, is to join in a single unit only such employees and all such employees, as have a mutual interest in the objects of collective bargaining. The appropriate unit selected must operate for the mutual benefit of all the employees included therein. To express it another way, the Board must consider whether there is that community of interest among the employees which is likely to further harmonious organizations and facilitate collective bargaining.”

Some of the N.L.R.B. decisions grouping together those employees having common economic interests are the following:

International Mercantile Marine Co., (1936) 1
NLRB 384

Tennessee Copper Company (1938) 5 *NLRB* 768

The Texas Co., (1939) 11 *NLRB* 925

Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co., (1939) 15 *NLRB* 515

(Where employees of several plants were grouped together as one unit because the interests of such employees were interwoven, and the collective bargaining for all the plants

involved, in the opinion of the Board, could most effectively be achieved through the establishment of a single bargaining unit.)

Fisher Body Corp., (1938) 7 *NLRB* 1083

The Calco Chemical Co., Inc., (1939) 13 *NLRB* 34

Nekoosa-Edwards Paper Co., (1939) 11 *NLRB* 446

Terminal Flour Mills Co., (1938) 8 *NLRB* 381

The Osgood Co., (1937) 4 *NLRB* 312

As to the desire of the employes, we quote in part from the Third Annual Report of N.L.R.B., 1938, beginning on page 167, as follows:

“The Board has given great weight to the desires of employees as expressed by their forms of self-organization; and it has also considered whether certain groups of employees have expressed a will to be included or excluded from a particular unit, in determining the bounds of that unit.”

Accordingly, in the case of *The Globe Machine and Stamping Co.*, (1937) 3 *NLRB* 294, where three unions advocated a division of the employes into three units, and a fourth union contended for a single unit for all employes, the Board stated in part as follows:

“In such a case where the considerations are so evenly balanced, the determining factor is the desire of the men themselves. On this point, the record affords no help . . . The only documentary proof is completely contradictory. We will therefore order elections to be held separately for the men engaged in polishing and those engaged in punch press work. We will also order an election for the employees of the company engaged in production and maintenance, exclusive of the pol-

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