1940

South East Furniture Company v. The Industrial Commission of Utah operating as the Utah Labor Relations Board : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

Defendant bases its argument entirely upon the ruling in the case of *American Federation of Labor, et al*, vs. *National Labor Relations Board*, 308 U. S. 401; and defendant contends that this case is on “all fours” with the case at bar. We do not agree with this contention.

An analysis of the steps in the proceeding before the defendant Board, in the instant case, should aid in a clear understanding of the matter. The essential steps are as follows:

July 29, 1940 — The union applied to defendant Board for certification as the bargaining agent for the employes, and, coincidentally, preferred charges against the plaintiff company for alleged discrimination, coercion, and intimidation of the employes.

July 30, 1940 — The defendant Board conducted an informal hearing pursuant to the said communication from the union.

July 31, 1940 — Following a purported investigation, the defendant Board certified the union as the appropriate unit for collective bargaining.

August 2, 1940 — A further informal hearing was held before the defendant Board, for the ostensible purpose of conciliating and mediating the controversy.

August 7, 1940 — The defendant Board served notice upon the plaintiff of a hearing to be held on August 9, 1940, and instructed plaintiff and others to be present.

August 16, 1940 — The defendant Board adopted, by a vote of two to one, Resolution No. 2030, reading in part as follows:

“BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED, that the Utah Labor Relations Board does hereby certify that United Industrial Local Union No. 1068 was authorized and appointed by a majority of the employees engaged and employed in the department hereinbefore found by the Utah Labor Relations Board as the appropriate unit for collective bargaining purposes with the Southeast Furniture Company; therefore, *the Southeast Furniture Company is hereby ordered and directed without further delay to enter into negotiations for the purpose of collective bargaining with said local union with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment.*” (Italics ours)

In the case of *American Federation of Labor vs. National Labor Relations Board*, cited in defendant's brief, upon the request of a rival union, the National Labor Relations Board certified the union as the exclusive bargaining representative of all of the workers in the unit. The Board made no order requiring the employer to bargain with the union, and there was no question of the refusal of the employer to bargain. The petition for review, in fact, was filed by the union against whom the order was made. The court held, in substance, that a mere certification was not a proper matter for review by the court. In its decision, the court traced the legislative history of the National Labor

Relations Act and, among other things, quoted from Senate Report No. 573 of the Committee on Education and Labor, 74th Congress, First Session, page 14, as follows:

“There is no more reason for court review prior to an election than for court review prior to a hearing. *But if subsequently the Board makes an order predicated upon the election, such as an order to bargain collectively with elected representatives, then the entire election procedure becomes part of the record upon which the order of the Board is based, and is fully reviewable by an aggrieved party in the Federal courts in the manner provided in Section 10. And this review would include within its scope the action of the Board in determining the appropriate unit for purposes of the election. This provides a complete guarantee against arbitrary action by the Board.*” (Italics ours)

The court further quotes the explanation of the Bill on the Senate floor by the Committee chairman, as follows:

“It provides for review in the courts only after the election has been held and the Board has ordered the employer to do something predicated upon the results of an election.”

The defendant further cites the case of *National Labor Relations Board vs. International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers*, 60 Supreme Court 306. In this case, two rival unions both claimed a majority. An election was held which was close. The Labor Board ordered a run-off election, for the purpose of determining whether the union receiving the largest number of votes should be the representative, or whether there should be no

representative. The excluded union appealed to the Circuit Court for review, and that court set aside the Board's direction. The case came to the Supreme Court upon certiorari. The latter court merely held that the direction for an election is but a part of the representation proceeding authorized by the Act and is not subject to review. In the said case, there was no affirmative order.

Defendant further cites the case of *National Labor Relations Board vs. Falk Corporation*, 308 U. S. 453, 60 Supreme Court 307. Insofar as this case touches upon the question at bar, the facts are that the Labor Board directed an election under certain conditions. The Board filed a petition with the Circuit Court to enforce its order of election. The Circuit Court modified the order of election and granted a petition for enforcement of it. The Supreme Court, upon review, decided that there can be no court review until the Board issues an order and *requires the employer to do something* predicated upon the result of an election. (Italics ours) This case gives additional credence to our contention that where the Board does order the employer to do something predicated upon certification, the matter is reviewable.

The cases of *Shields vs. Utah Idaho Central Railway Co.*, 305 U. S. 117, and *Utah Fuel Company vs. National Bituminous Coal Com.*, 306 U. S. 56, have no bearing upon the issues of this case whatever.

It may be contended, and correctly so, that in this case, there was no due hearing upon due notice of any alleged unfair labor charge which would form a suitable

basis for an order by the defendant Board, requiring the plaintiff to do the affirmative act, to-wit: "Without further delay to enter into negotiations for the purpose of collective bargaining with said local union with respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or other conditions of employment." We grant that the defendant Board attempted to "cut across lots," in arriving at its order, and this tendency upon the part of the defendant Board is the very basis for our petition for review. However, regardless of the manner in which the defendant Board arrived at its affirmative order, the order, nevertheless, does, in fact, require the plaintiff to do an affirmative thing, and, if the plaintiff refuses to do so, it lays itself open to the consequences of an application on the part of the defendant Board to this court for affirmative relief. The plaintiff in this proceeding has followed the other alternative of applying to the court for review.

The case of *United Employes Association vs. National Labor Relations Board*, argued in the Circuit Court of Appeals of the Third Circuit, on March 18, 1938, reported in 96 Fed. (2d) 875, presents some good reasoning with respect to the nature of mere certification, as compared to affirmative command. In that case, the Board merely certified the union as the bargaining agent, and the court states in part as follows:

"It does determine that question which may be reviewed at the proper time by this court, but *that time arrives when the Board orders the company to do something. Here the Union is merely certified as 'the exclusive representative of all such employes for the purpose of collective*

bargaining in respect to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, and other conditions of employment.' *This is not a final order. It is in fact not an order at all, but simply the certification of a fact which may be entirely ignored and disregarded by the Association and the Company.* The Company may go on with impunity bargaining with the Association just as though no certification had been made. *Until the Board makes a final order commanding the Company to do something, its jurisdiction is exclusive and complete and its order may not be reversed or set aside if there is any substantial evidence to support it.* Consequently until the Board makes a final order by which some person is aggrieved the proceedings of the Board may not be judicially reviewed or enjoined. * * * If and when the Board by a final order directs the petitioner in this case to cease and desist from any of its practices *or to do anything*, the petitioner may obtain a review of that order by this court which may then examine the regularity of the proceedings by which the Board found that the Union was the exclusive representative of the Association for the purposes of collective bargaining, but until then both the Association and the Company may proceed just as though no election had been held or certification made." (Italics ours)

To summarize, we respectfully call the court's attention to the following facts:

The defendant Board originally certified the union as the bargaining agent for the employees in question, under date of July 31, 1940. The defendant Board, on August 16, 1940, merely reaffirmed its previous decision, and affirmatively ordered and directed the plaintiff, without further delay to enter into negotiations for the purpose of collective bargaining with the said union.

While it is granted that this affirmative order of the defendant Board was made without proper hearing, and in the absence of adequate findings and conclusions, nevertheless, unless this court relieves the plaintiff of the effects thereof, through this proceeding, the affirmative order of the said Board is as binding upon this plaintiff as if it had been arrived at after full and complete proceedings, as set forth in the Act.

It is, therefore, our contention that this proceeding is properly before this Court for review at this time, and for the reasons set forth in our original brief, the matter should be remanded to the defendant Board, with instructions to conduct a secret ballot and proceed otherwise as indicated in our said brief.

Respectfully submitted,

ROMNEY & NELSON,
Attorneys for Plaintiff.